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Lucy’s Story
13-year old Lucy lives with her 
grandmother Marj and an eight-
year-old foster child. Life in their 
small two-bedroom home was 
hard, sharing a bedroom meant 
neither girl had privacy or space 
to be themselves. Marj knew this 
overcrowding increased the risk of 
Lucy leaving home and experiencing 
homelessness. 

Everything changed when the family 
received a Kids Under Cover studio 
for Lucy in November 2019.

Lucy now has a stable and secure 
place to call home, and the space 
she needs to thrive.

Front Cover: Lucy 
with the keys to her 
Kids Under Cover 
studio. Right: Lucy 
and Marj on the 
steps of their studio.
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ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF COUNTRY:  
We acknowledge the Traditional 
Custodians of the land on which we live 
and work, and recognise their continuing 
connection to land, water and community. 
We pay respect to Elders past, present  
and emerging.

*Indicates names have been changed to  
protect identities and models pictured  
are not connected to the story.
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2019/ 
2020
HIGHLIGHTS

KIDS UNDER  
COVER

ABOUT US
Kids Under Cover is leading the way in youth 
homelessness prevention in Australia.

Our early intervention and prevention model interrupts  
the spiral of homelessness for young people aged 12-25.

By combining stable and secure studio accommodation with 
education scholarships, we prevent homelessness and help 
young people thrive. Our programs are life-changing for 
vulnerable young people and their families.

We have achieved a lot over the past 30 years, but while 
there is still youth homelessness in our community there  
is much to be done. When it comes to youth homelessness, 
prevention is the cure.

*  Number includes young people living in a studio  
and the main house where a studio is located.

OUR MISSION
Providing young people at risk of homelessness the 
foundations to strengthen their connection to family, 
community and education and make a lasting difference  
in their lives.

OUR VALUES
Empathy 
Collaboration
Resilience
Engagement
Integrity

OUR VISION

WHERE NO YOUNG PERSON  
IN OUR COMMUNITY  
IS HOMELESS
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947
YOUNG PEOPLE CALLED 

A KIDS UNDER COVER 
STUDIO HOME

1,789
YOUNG PEOPLE 

SUPPORTED BY KIDS 
UNDER COVER*



*  Number includes young people living in a studio  
and the main house where a studio is located.
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42% 83%OPTIMISM ABOUT  
THE FUTURE INCREASED

FROM TO

FROM TO

FROM TO

FOR THE YOUNG PERSON

32% 7%RISK TAKING  
BEHAVIOUR DECREASED

74%MEETING REQUIRED  
SCHOOL ATTENDANCE  
INCREASED

507
SCHOLARSHIPS AWARDED TO 

KEEP YOUNG PEOPLE ENGAGED 
WITH THEIR EDUCATION

620
STUDIOS ON THE GROUND  

AS AT 30 JUNE 2020

113
STUDIOS PROVIDED, 

PREVENTING AN ADDITIONAL 
176 YOUNG PEOPLE 

FROM EXPERIENCING 
FAMILY BREAKDOWN AND 

HOMELESSNESS

61
COMMUNITY SERVICE 

ORGANISATIONS PARTNERED 
WITH TO DELIVER  

PROGRAMS 

89%



4 Kids Under Cover Annual Report 2020

We are delighted to share the  
2020 Kids Under Cover Annual Report.

Reflecting on the achievements of the 2020 
financial year we are incredibly proud of 
what we have accomplished, in the face of 
external challenges. The impact we have had in 
preventing youth homelessness is extraordinary. 
This year we provided more studios, awarded 
more scholarships and supported more young 
people than ever before. 

We provided 113 studios, preventing a further 176 
young people from experiencing homelessness. 
947 young people called a Kids Under Cover studio 
home throughout the year, with 620 studios on the 
ground as at 30 June 2020. We also awarded 507 
scholarships, keeping young people connected  
to their education. 

It is with sincere appreciation we thank  
our generous donors, partners and the  
Victorian Government. It is only with  
your support we have had this impact  
in preventing youth homelessness.

This has been an incredibly challenging year for 
all Australians, particularly the most vulnerable 
in our community. For young people in unstable 

and overcrowded living 
conditions, the COVID-19 
pandemic and stay at 
home restrictions has 
been devastating. As a 
result, Kids Under Cover 
experienced a 50% increase 
in studio applications. As we 
received more applications 
than we had funding for 
we temporarily closed 
applications for our Studio 
Program in May 2020. This 
was a difficult decision and 
we are working towards 
opening applications again  
in the 2021 financial year. 

As we move into the final year of our current 
strategic plan, we are looking to the future of  
Kids Under Cover. The ever-increasing demand  
for our early intervention and prevention 
programs is not matched with increased funding 
opportunities. With our solid foundations, Kids 
Under Cover is well placed to take bold and 
innovative steps to meet this demand. We will 
commence exploration of these options as part  
of our upcoming strategic planning process.

After almost six years on the Kids Under Cover  
Board and two and a half years as Chair,  
Colin Radford stepped down from the Board  
in April 2020. Under Colin’s leadership, the  
Board has focused on innovation, including  
the commencement of interstate expansion  
and the launch of our social enterprise Nestd. 
We’ve been privileged to work alongside Colin 
and are pleased he will continue as a supporter 
and trusted friend of the organisation.

We are so proud to lead an organisation with 
such an incredible team. Our passionate staff  
and dedicated Board are instrumental in 
achieving our vision. Their shared commitment 
to making a positive difference in the lives 
of vulnerable young people is inspirational. 
Together we can end youth homelessness.

CHAIRMAN  
& CEO’S MESSAGE

Above: George 
Liacos, Chairman 
and Jo Swift, CEO.

Jo Swift
CEO

George Liacos 
Chairman

 This has been an incredibly challenging 
year for all Australians, particularly the most 
vulnerable in our community.  
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Our total revenue decreased this year by $1.02 
million. We experienced a decline in government 
and philanthropic support in the second half of 
the year, attributable to the impact of COVID-19 
and resulting uncertainty in the sector. As a 
result of this decline in fundraising we were 
eligible for JobKeeper and cashflow boost 
of $242,000. Despite the decline in funding, 
the number of studio builds increased by 
12 in comparison to the prior year and our 
scholarship program significantly expanded. 

We continue to receive support from  
the Victorian Government across two  
departments. The continued support of 
philanthropic partners and individual  
donors has demonstrated their deep  
connection to our work. 

Our social enterprise Nestd continues  
its early phase development with investment 
during the year to develop the business model.

Management continues to focus on the control 
of expenses. Our marketing and fundraising 
costs decreased in 2019-20, with adjustments 
to other departments to create efficiencies in 
response to COVID-19.

Growth in our programs and the associated  
costs, along with early stage costs of Nestd, 
have resulted in an overall deficit for 2019-20  
of $1.9 million.  

Our strategic planning process will include  
a further focus on our financial sustainability  
and continuing to consider funding sources  
and managing the impact of the external 
challenges. It is also imperative we focus  

on cash flow requirements for building studios 
which are committed as part of our funding 
obligations. Additionally, the nature of our 
relocatable studios requires us to maintain 
reserves to support the maintenance of the  
620 studios on the ground. 

With our emphasis on financial sustainability  
we will explore the strategic options to  
continue to have an impact in preventing  
youth homelessness.

We thank Pitcher Partners, our auditors,  
for their generous time and expertise. 

TREASURER’S REPORT 
We have continued to focus on our mission and impact in preventing youth homelessness,  
with 113 studios provided and 507 scholarships awarded this year.

2019-20  
EXPENDITURE

■ PROGRAM 
DELIVERY

■ FUNDRAISING AND 
MARKETING

■ MANAGEMENT AND 
ADMINISTRATION

■ SOCIAL 
ENTERPRISE

■ FUNDRAISING

■ GOVERNMENT 
FUNDING

■ OTHER

■ INVESTMENT 
INCOME 

2019-20  
REVENUE

Left: Alison Tate, 
Treasurer.

Alison Tait 
Treasurer

63%
31%

4% 2%

63% 18%

17%

2%
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OUR WORK — 
STUDIO PROGRAM

ABOUT OUR  
STUDIO PROGRAM
This year 947 young people called a Kids Under 
Cover studio home.

Kids Under Cover’s Studio Program supports 
young people aged between 12 and 25 years who 
are at risk of homelessness or family breakdown. 
One or two-bedroom studios, with a bathroom 
and desk, are installed in the backyard of a family 
or carer’s home. This gives young people their 
own secure and stable space to thrive, while 
maintaining the connection with their family.  
This also reduces the risk of the young person 
being forced to leave home prematurely and  
into homelessness.

When the young person no longer requires the 
studio, it can be relocated to another family in need.

It’s a grave misconception young people become 
homeless by choice. The reality is vastly different. 
For the young people we support, their lives 
have become emotionally and often, physically 
unbearable. Their home life may be burdened 
by the disadvantages of poverty, overcrowding, 
unemployment, health complications, disability 
and mental illness.

This causes some young 
people to feel there is no 
other option but to leave. 
They are not ready, have 
nowhere to go and may 
become isolated from 
mainstream society. 
Without the right support, 
many will struggle with 
homelessness their 
entire lives.

Kids Under Cover’s 
Studio Program 
interrupts the cycle  
of homelessness by 
providing safe and 
secure accommodation 
while maintaining 
a young person’s 
connection to their 
family and community. 

WHAT WE  
ACHIEVED
This year 113 studios were provided, preventing 
an additional 176 young people from falling into 
the spiral of homelessness. Of these studios, 83 
were new builds, 17 were relocated studios and 
13 were family placements. We retired or sold 
15 studios, due to their age and condition. This 
brings the total number of studios on the ground 
at the end of this financial year to 620. 

Throughout the year 947 young people called a 
Kids Under Cover studio home. A total of 1,789 
young people were supported by Kids Under 
Cover, including those who live in the main  
house where is a studio is located.

By working closely with 61 Community Service 
Organisation partners, we have been able to 
make a life changing difference for these  
young people and their families.

We also experienced a significant milestone  
this year, with our 1000th studio being  
provided. We were privileged to have The  
Hon. Richard Wynne, Minister for Housing  
present the studio keys to this family in 
November 2019.

Above: The Hon. 
Richard Wynne 
presenting keys to 
the 1000th studio.
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STUDIO QUICK FACTS

THIS YEAR’S  
STUDIOS

Studios have a minimum life span of 20 years 
and can be relocated up to 4 times.

Prefabricated and flat-packed, studios can be 
built in a backyard with services connected in 
10 days. 

Our studios are 100% Australian made  
from Australian materials by a family  
owned business.

They are built with environmentally friendly 
Durra Panel and have a 6-star energy rating.

Mary’s Story  
– FAMILY PLACEMENTS
Family placements are when a Kids Under 
Cover studio stays in place on a vacated public 
housing property, and we work with The 
Department of Health and Human Services 
(DHHS) to place a new family in this home. 
With over 80,000 people on the Victorian 
Social Housing waitlist, finding appropriate 
housing such as a four-bedroom home can 
take more than five years. Kids Under Cover’s 
family placement studios help to reduce 
this waitlist and enable large families to be 
housed appropriately. This method of studio 
provision is an extremely cost-effective way 
of supporting a young person and their family 
almost instantly, like Mary and her children.

A few years after migrating to Australia from 
Sudan, Mary became a single mother to her 
seven children, aged 7 months to 18 years 
old. With nowhere to go, they sheltered in a 
homelessness accommodation service. For 
almost a year, eight of them shared a room. 
Mary’s teenage children had no access to 
internet or a quiet space to study, making it 
almost impossible for them to remain  
engaged in their schooling. 

Mary and her kids finally escaped 
homelessness, moving into a DHHS home  
with a two-bedroom Kids Under Cover studio.

“I was struggling and suffering so much  
before we moved into this home. Now I thank 
God all my kids are with me,” Mary tells us. 

At last Mary and her kids had a safe and secure 
place to call home and escape the cycle of 
homelessness. Her older children are loving their 
own space in the studio to study and have time to 
themselves away from the busy main house. 

27%
have child  
protection involvement

identify as Aboriginal  
or Torres Strait Islander

live with a disability  
or mental illness 29%

35%

HAVE FAMILY  
MEMBERS THAT

STUDIO  
LOCATION

■ Metro

■ Regional & Rural

STUDIO  
SIZE

■ One-bedroom

■ Two-bedroom

73%

12%
15%

58%
42%

56%
44%

STUDIO  
TYPE

■ New Build

■ Relocation

■ Family Placement

10

Mary’s son Anok out the front of their studio.
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STUDIO MAINTENANCE
Once we provide a studio to a family and  
young person, we conduct regular audits  
of the studio. This ensures our studios are  
kept in top condition, providing a safe and 
secure place to call home. They also enable  
us to maintain and strengthen our relationship 
with families. This year, our Maintenance 
Technicians completed audits on our Victorian 
studios, while our partners Macutex continued 
to provide incredible support by auditing our 
studios in ACT and NSW. 

In the words of one of our Maintenance 
Technicians Ian, “It’s all about making sure 
everything works in the studios and repairing 
anything that needs it. Every day is different,  
and it is heartwarming to see studio recipients 
take so much pride in their space.”

INTERSTATE EXPANSION
In 2019, Kids Under Cover undertook a 
feasibility study for interstate expansion. This 
study validated Kids Under Cover’s programs 
as a relevant solution in the prevention 

of youth homelessness across Australia. 
South Australia was identified as the most 
strategic location to pilot our expansion, in 
part due to the South Australian Government’s 
commitment to preventing homelessness. The 
State Government’s 10-year housing plan aims 
to modernise South Australia’s housing and 
homelessness systems and they have committed 
$20 million over 10 years to a Homelessness 
Prevention Fund.

In January 2020 Kids Under Cover met with 
government, councils and community service 
organisations in South Australia to better 
understand the state’s unique building and 
funding requirements. We partnered with 
Anglicare South Australia as the community 
service organisation to identify families in the  
City of Onkaparinga to receive the two pilot 
studios. These studios will be built in the 2021 
financial year. Pending the success of these pilots 
and subject to government funding, expansion 
into South Australia will continue in 2021 and 
beyond. We are excited for the opportunity to 
deliver our life-changing programs in South 
Australia and are grateful for the ongoing 
support of JB Hi-Fi’s 
workplace giving 
program, Helping 
Hands, who have 
funded this project.

IMPACTS OF COVID
The impacts of COVID-19 have been felt far 
and wide throughout our community this year. 
This pandemic and the resulting stay at home 
restrictions have been particularly devastating for 
young people living in unstable and overcrowded 
homes. As a result, Kids Under Cover experienced 
a 50% increase in studio applications this year. 
This led to the demand for our Studio Program 
exceeding the available funding, so we made the 
difficult decision in May 2020 to temporarily close 
studio applications. Through working closely with 
the Victorian Government and our philanthropic 
supporters, we hope to increase our available 
funding and re-open applications in the 2021 
financial year. 

Housing and homelessness functions  
remained essential services during the 2020 
financial year. We were able to continue studio 
builds for already approved applications and 
continue studio maintenance with additional 
safety measures in place. Fortunately, our studio 
supply chain was not impacted as a result 
of COVID-19. Our studio supply from Ortech 
remained secure and our building partners 
Harris HMC were fully operational. We thank 
them for their hard work and dedication during 
this difficult period.

 ... it is heartwarming to see studio recipients 
take so much pride in their space.  

Above: Maintenance 
Technician Ian out 
on the road.
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Riley’s Story — RELIEF DURING COVID-19
For vulnerable young people, the COVID-19 pandemic and stay at 
home restrictions exacerbated the risk of homelessness.

With two adults and seven children aged 9-20 in a four-bedroom 
home, there was no space for anyone in this family to relax, study or 
socialise. The overcrowding pushed eldest son Riley and his partner 
out into a private rental. However expensive living costs and job 
insecurity forced them to move back into the overcrowded home. This 
quickly took its toll on the whole family. Then COVID-19 began and 
having to stay home only amplified the impact of the overcrowding. 

“It was just so stressful. Everyone was getting frustrated and there 
was so much tension,” explains mum Lisette.  

A Kids Under Cover studio couldn’t have come at a better time.  
In June 2020 a one-bedroom studio was built in the family’s 
backyard for Riley and his partner Natasha. 

“We are so rapt, it’s a godsend. There’s so much more room in  
the house and Riley and Natasha are loving having their own space  
in the studio. The kids are so much happier,” Lisette tells us. 

VILLAGE 21
This year we continued to work towards the 
launch of Village 21 in Preston. This innovation 
has been developed by Kids Under Cover to 
build life skills and provide opportunities for 
young people exiting out-of-home care when 
they reach the age of 18. A first-of-its-kind, 
Village 21 is a scaled-up, co-located version 
of our existing Studio Program. Delivered in 
partnership with Anglicare Victoria, it will 
provide studios for six young people, giving them 
stable accommodation, wrap around supports 
and communal living elements for up to three 

years. DHHS has funded Village 21 through 
Accommodation for the Homeless Phase 2, which 
is part of the Victorian Government’s $109 million 
homelessness support investment.

Work on the site at Preston commenced in June 
2020 and will be completed in early 2020-2021. 
The construction of Village 21 experienced delays 
as a result of COVID-19 restrictions.

We are excited for the significantly improved 
social outcomes for the young people who will  
be part of the project.

Artist’s impression 
of Village 21.

Riley proud to call 
his studio home.
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ABOUT OUR  
SCHOLARSHIP PROGRAM 
Kids Under Cover’s Scholarship Program  
helps young people who have the passion  
and motivation to continue their education,  
but don’t have the resources. 

As more families feel financial stress from 
soaring education costs, rising house prices and 
an increased cost of living, many young people 
may be forced to leave school early. The COVID-19 
pandemic placed additional strain on families this 
year, with many students forced to continue their 
education at home.

Our scholarships give young people the support 
they need to stay in education, whether this be 
primary school, secondary school, TAFE,  
university or job training. 

This is not just by helping financially with 
educational expenses, such as travel costs, 
textbooks, uniforms and equipment, but also by 
preventing the social exclusion that can haunt 
young people who miss out on camps, excursions 
or other activities due to lack of funds. 

Each year we also award one Ken & Lenka Morgan 
Scholarship to an exceptional young person that 

has demonstrated clarity, aspiration and drive  
to do great things for themselves, their  
community and the world around them. Read 
about this year’s recipient Jesse on page 11.

We are also proud to be in our 10th year  
of administering the DHHS Student  
Scholarship Program. 

WHAT WE ACHIEVED

This year 507 young people received a Kids 
Under Cover Scholarship, including the Ken and 
Lenka Morgan Scholarship. This is an increase 
of 110% from the number of scholarships 
awarded in 2018-19. With so many families 
at crisis point, the demand for our Scholarship 
Program continues to grow.

Our scholarships are available not just for the 
young people living in our studios, but to all 
eligible young people in the household. This 
year 41% of scholarship recipients were studio 
occupants, and 59% were young people living in 
the main home. This clearly demonstrates the 
positive impact that Kids Under Cover has for  
the whole family, not just the studio occupants. 

Throughout 2019-20 we also administered  
290 DHHS Student Scholarships. This initiative 
of the Victorian Government aims to overcome 
barriers in students’ educational attainment  
and assist in school retention, supporting at  
risk young people to continue their education  
to Years 11 and 12 or the TAFE equivalent.

This year we also established a relationship 
with Open Universities Australia. Five young 
people received an Open Universities Australia 
Scholarship, providing them with free university 
subjects and textbooks in their chosen study field.

OUR WORK — 
SCHOLARSHIP  
PROGRAM

Above: Kids Under 
Cover’s Scholarship 
Program supports 
young people to 
continue their 
education.*
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Jesse’s Story — KEN & LENKA 
MORGAN SCHOLARSHIP

Before receiving his Kids Under Cover studio in 2017, 
Jesse was at risk of homelessness. Jesse was in the 
foster care system and his home was overcrowded  
with seven other people living there. After moving 
into his studio, Jesse received a Kids Under Cover 
scholarship to support him and continue his education. 
This year, Jesse was the recipient of the Ken & Lenka 
Morgan Scholarship. 

Jesse used the scholarship to travel overseas and take 
part in an intensive medical program in a leading Czech 
hospital, bringing him one step closer to his dream of 
becoming a surgeon. Jesse is currently completing his 
Bachelor of Biomedicine and interviewing for medical 
schools. We can’t wait to see what his bright future holds.

“Being a foster child, living rurally and trying to study in the city, scholarships have always 
helped me with some of the struggles in my life. Scholarships supported me to better access 
education and the world. I have been incredibly lucky to have Kids Under Cover believe in my 
potential and invest in my future,” shares Jesse.

25%

Above: Jesse 
participated in a 
medical program 
thanks to the Ken 
& Lenka Morgan 
Scholarship.

THIS YEAR’S SCHOLARSHIP RECIPIENTS

AS A RESULT OF THE SCHOLARSHIPS

identify as Aboriginal  
or Torres Strait Islander

live with a disability  
or mental illness

have a non-English  
speaking background

have a refugee  
background

EDUCATION TYPE

■ Secondary  
school

■ TAFE/Job  
training

■ University

■ Primary  
school

36%
14%
3%

80%
10%

6%

4%

97% 
of families felt relief 
from financial stress

For 90% 

of young people, 
receiving a 

scholarship impacted 
their decision to  
stay engaged in  
their education

99% 
of young people  

were able to purchase 
necessary course 

equipment and 
materials

92% 
of young people were 

able to participate  
in all areas of  

their education

84% 
of young people 
improved their 

education  
attendance and 

86% 
improved their 

academic 
performance
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OUR IMPACT
The life-changing impact Kids Under Cover has for 
young people and families is clearly demonstrated 
through our annual program evaluations. The 
evaluation looks at both short-term outcomes and 
longer-term impacts achieved through our Studio 
and Scholarship Program.

This year 151 carers were interviewed as part of the evaluation, 
representing 25% of families with a Kids Under Cover studio.

Carers report their lives, and those of the young people, are 
much improved since the Kids Under Cover studio arrived. 
The results show particular improvement in overcrowding, 
family harmony and general mood of the young person who 
lives in the studio. 

This year’s evaluation segmented respondents by the length 
of time the young person had been in a studio, ranging from 
less than a year to 5+ years. There was little statistical 
difference in the outcomes for young people who had 
been living in the studio for a longer period of time. This 
demonstrates the initial positive impacts experienced  
when receiving a studio are maintained over time. 

Carers were also asked about the impact of the studio 
during COVD-19 and stay at home restrictions. 88% of 
carers reported that the studio made dealing with the 
pandemic easier, compared to how it would have been 
without the studio.

We thank the dedicated team at DBM Consultants for their 
generous and ongoing support of this evaluation work.

OPTIMISM 
ABOUT THE 
YOUNG 
PERSON’S 
FUTURE 
INCREASED TO

(very / somewhat optimistic)

83%
FROM 42%

LEVEL OF 
OVERCROWDING 
IN THE HOUSE 
DECREASED TO 

(severely / very overcrowded)
 FROM 89% 

11% 7% 

INCIDENCE 
OF TIME 
SPENT AWAY 
FROM HOME 
DECREASED TO

(lot / fair amount of time)
FROM 33% 

 Having the studio has given her a strong sense of security, she has her space 
and it is safe, it’s given her a strong foundation to be able to prosper.  

STUDIO PROGRAM

 His mental health has greatly improved. His relationship with his younger  
brother has greatly improved. The overall family connection has greatly  

improved because there is not as much conflict.  

 It’s made a huge difference in our household. It’s almost stopped all the  
negativity, the fighting and the yelling… . everyone seems to be happier because  

they have their own space.  
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 They are looking forward and actually talking about their career path,  
not hanging about the streets, they are not doing anything illegal.  

FROM 80% 

RISKY 
BEHAVIOURS 
IN THE YOUNG 
PERSON 
DECREASED TO 

FREQUENT 
CONFLICT IN 
THE HOME 
DECREASED TO 

34%
(often / occasional conflict) (often / occasionally take part)

FROM 32% 

7%

INCIDENCE OF 
THE YOUNG 
PERSON 
BEING HAPPY 
INCREASED TO

FROM 27% 

89%
(always / usually happy)

PERFORMING 
WELL AT 
SCHOOL/TAFE/
UNIVERSITY 
INCREASED TO 

91%
FROM 59% 

(doing very / quite well)

FAMILIES 
GETTING 
ON WELL 
INCREASED TO 

94%
FROM 46% 

(get on very well / quite well)

MEETING 
REQUIRED LEVEL 
OF EDUCATION 
ATTENDANCE 
INCREASED TO

89%
FROM 74% 

(always / almost always)

 It was life changing for us, really brought us all together  
and got her off the streets.  

 I think without the studio, she wouldn’t have made the leaps forward in terms  
of her own mental health, judgment and emotional responses.  

 He was at risk of facing homelessness but the studio has given him his own space…   
He is positive about the studio because he didn’t have anywhere else to go if he  

didn’t have that.  
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OUR SECTOR

By working closely together with 
government and other organisations  
in the homelessness sector, we can 
improve outcomes for all young 
Australians at risk of homelessness. 

CONTRIBUTING TO  
THE SECTOR’S VOICE
There were two key campaigns in the 
homelessness sector that Kids Under Cover 
actively supported this year. 

We continued to show our support for the 
Everybody’s Home campaign. The campaign, 
developed and supported by a broad coalition 
of housing, homelessness and welfare 
organisations, calls on the government to create 
a better, fairer housing system for everyone.

This year Kids Under Cover called for the 
extension of Out of Home Care until the age of 
21, through the Home Stretch campaign. As a 
foundation member of this campaign we are 
working closely with the lead agency, Anglicare 
Victoria, on developing Village 21 in response to 
the needs of this cohort.

Both campaigns advocate for simple changes 
that will make an incredible difference for the 
most vulnerable in our community. We are  
proud to support them alongside our peers.

INQUIRY SUBMISSIONS 
This year Kids Under Cover has prepared 
submissions for two government inquiries 
into homelessness. We prepared a written 
submission for the Victorian Government’s 
Inquiry into Homelessness in Victoria. In 
February 2020, Jo Swift alongside Kids Under 
Cover Board Member Sarah Davies AM and 
Brittnie, a previous Kids Under Cover studio 
recipient presented at this inquiry. We also 
prepared a written submission for the House 
of Representatives’ Inquiry into Homelessness 
in Australia. Our submissions focussed on the 
importance of prevention and early intervention 
in responding to the youth homelessness crisis. 
It has never been more important to respond to 
the unique challenges of youth homelessness 
and increase funding for prevention. It is  
then we will be taking real steps towards  
a community where no young person 
experiences homelessness.

Kids Under Cover also responded to the NSW 
Government’s NSW Housing Strategy Discussion 
Paper. Our recommendation was that the issue 
of inadequate housing for youth needs to be 
identified and considered as part of this strategy, 
as they are a distinct cohort with their own 
needs and challenges. We commend the NSW 
Government for their renewed commitment to 
ensuring secure housing for all.

Above: Sarah Davies 
AM, Brittnie and 
Jo Swift presented 
at the Inquiry into 
Homelessness  
in Victoria.

 Both campaigns advocate for 
simple changes that will make an 
incredible difference for the most 
vulnerable in our community.  
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GOVERNMENT SUPPORT
During the 2020 financial year Kids Under Cover 
continued to foster a strong relationship with 
the Victorian Government. This year, Kids Under 
Cover have been supported by the Department 
of Health and Human Services (DHHS) and the 
Victorian Property Fund (VPF).

In 2020 we welcomed a $2.3 million funding 
commitment from the VPF. These funds will 
support the provision of 72 studios over the  
next two years, housing 105 young people  
at risk of homelessness.

This grant focusses on collective impact and will fund 
48% of each studio, with the remaining 52% funded 
by Kids Under Cover and generous donations from 
Philanthropic Partners. This year we built 35 of these 
studios. All VPF funded studios feature solar power, 
a new initiative for Kids Under Cover. The solar 
panels on our studios help reduce the cost of living 
pressures for the households, and the carbon offsets 
are equivalent to 4.6 trees per month per studio. 

DHHS has committed to providing funding of  
$4.5 million over four years, enabling us to build 
22 studios in the first year, and 18 in the years 
following. The 2020 financial year was the second 
year of the four-year agreement. In addition, there 
was a continuation of a funding commitment 
from DHHS for a partnership with Melbourne City 

Mission and Uniting called Detour. This financial 
year the Detour program provided four studios.

Looking ahead, we are honoured to be entering into 
a new partnership with the Department of Justice 
and Community Safety to support the rehabilitation  
of young people transitioning out of youth justice.  

A $3.4 million investment by the Victorian Government 
in the 2021 financial year will fund 50 relocatable 
studios to address the critical housing need for 
young people of leaving youth justice. Safe and 
secure accommodation will make a life changing 
difference for this vulnerable cohort. We are 
pleased that as a result of this partnership we can 
extend our reach to further support rehabilitation 
and reintegration for those in youth justice.

Kids Under Cover sincerely thanks the Victorian 
Government for their ongoing 
support of our shared vision 
of a community where no 
young person experiences 
homelessness.

Amrita’s Story
Amrita* and her family received a Kids Under 
Cover studio this year. Studios like the one 
provided to Amrita and her family are made 
possible thanks to the ongoing support that 
we receive from the Victorian Government. 
Amrita shares her story below.

“Before receiving the Kids Under Cover 
studio, we were very overcrowded in our 
small three-bedroom house. I was sharing 
a room with my sister and we were both 
studying VCE as international students. 
The overcrowding meant there was a lot of 
tension in the home and it was impossible to 
study because of the constant distractions. 
COVID-19 made this even worse, because 
I couldn’t go to libraries to escape the 
interruptions at home. 

No one in the family was happy or in a good 
mood, it was really stressful. We all had to 
share the same bathroom too, which made 
me feel really uncomfortable. 

Getting the studio changed everything.  

I am still doing VCE and I feel so much more 
organised. I am able to concentrate on my 
study and my future goal to do a Bachelor  
of Science at university. 

It has made a huge difference for the rest  
of the family too. Before the studio the living 
room was a bedroom, but now it can go  
back to being used as a living room and  
we actually enjoy spending time together.”

 These [VPF] funds will support the provision 
of 72 studios over the next two years, housing  
105 young people at risk of homelessness.  

Above: The  
studio has  

made a huge 
difference  

for Amrita.*
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WALK FOR COVER
In November 2019 we held our inaugural Walk 
for Cover event, a four-day trek from Rosebud  
to our head office in Richmond. Walk for Cover 
saw us engage with communities, politicians,  
and supporters - raising awareness of  
the youth homelessness crisis and the 
importance of prevention.

More than 80 supporters joined our CEO Jo Swift 
on the walk, which also raised funds to support 
the build of two life-changing studios. 

Mornington Peninsula Shire Mayor Sam Hearn 
joined Jo Swift at the starting line to officially 
launch the event.

“The work Kids Under Cover has done in  
this region and the state broadly has had  
an enormous impact. It’s so important to keep 
youth at risk of homelessness connected to  
the support networks in their community,”  
Cr Hearn said.

Throughout Walk for Cover we were privileged to 
be joined by local Counsellors and MPs, showing 

their support for Kids Under Cover and the  
work we do preventing youth homelessness  
in their electorates. This included Sonya  
Kilkenny MP, Member for Carrum, James 
Newbury MP, Member for Brighton, Tim 
Richardson MP, Member for Mordialloc and  
Cr David Gill, Mornington Peninsula Shire.

The Hon. Minister Richard Wynne met us  
on the final day of the walk, welcoming our  
walkers on the steps of Parliament House.

Above: Jo Swift 
and Cr Sam Hearn 
starting Walk  
for Cover.

 The work Kids Under Cover  
has done in this region and the 
state broadly has had an  
enormous impact. It’s so  
important to keep youth at  
risk of homelessness connected  
to the support networks in  
their community.  
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AMANDA’S STORY – WALK 
FOR COVER STUDIO
Life turned upside down for Amanda and 
her three kids when they welcomed an 
additional six children to their home. First 
Amanda became the carer of her niece and 
nephew. Then she took in her daughter’s 
friend and siblings when their parents were 
unable to care for them. There were now 10 
people living in Amanda’s severely crowded 
four-bedroom home, creating inappropriate 
sleeping arrangements, tension and stress. 

Amanda’s family then received a Kids Under 
Cover studio that was generously funded 
by supporters of Walk for Cover. The studio 
provided desperately needed relief – space, 
privacy, and household harmony. 

“All of the fighting has stopped since the  
two older girls, Zali and Kira, moved into  
the studio. It has freed up more space in  
the main home, so less of the kids have  
to share bedrooms” Amanda tells us.

“Not only did the studio provide extra 
space, it meant the older two girls didn’t 
have to leave with nowhere to go, diverting 
them from couch surfing, unstable rental 
accommodation, and homelessness.

They were over how cramped it was and 
thought it would just be easier to leave, 
even though they weren’t financially stable 
enough to move out,” explains Amanda. 

Amanda says they are all so grateful for 
the studio and the impact it has had on  
the whole household.

Above: Hon. 
Richard Wynne 
met walkers at 
Parliament House; 
Left: Previous studio 
recipient Sandi 
with Kids Under 
Cover Ambassadors 
Shaynna Blaze and 
Sabina Read.

Above: Zali and  
her studio.
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OUR SUPPORTERS

By working closely together with our 
committed partners and supporters, we 
are able to prevent youth homelessness. 
Outcomes for the young people and families 
we support are significantly improved thanks 
to the generosity of many in our community.

30TH ANNIVERSARY 
CELEBRATION
In 2019, Kids Under Cover celebrated  
30 years of preventing youth homelessness.  
Our celebrations continued into the 2020 
financial year with our 30th Anniversary 
supporter function and our Photo Portrait 
exhibition. It was an immense privilege  
to have so many longstanding supporters  
join us in celebrating our collective impact.  
30 years ago, Professor Brian Burdekin AO  

was instrumental in producing the landmark 
report ‘Our Homeless Children’, which was  
the catalyst for the creation of Kids Under Cover 
by Ken Morgan OAM. In his captivating speech 
at the 30th Anniversary celebration,  
Professor Burdekin personally saluted  
Ken Morgan’s achievements since the report 
was produced in 1989. Guests also enjoyed 
hearing former studio and scholarship  
recipient Sandi share her experience of  
the positive impact Kids Under Cover  
has had on her life.

Above: Jo Swift, 
Ken Morgan OAM 
and Sandi at the 
30th Anniversary 
celebration.

 It was an immense privilege 
to have so many longstanding 
supporters join us in celebrating 
our collective impact.  
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Above: Kirsten 
donated her Honda 
Jazz to our Donate 
Your Car Program.

DONATION OF A  
DIFFERENT KIND
Donate Your Car is one of Kids Under Cover’s 
most successful fundraising initiatives. It 
provides a hassle-free way to find a new 
purpose for an unneeded vehicle, while making 
a valuable donation to help prevent youth 
homelessness. We organise the collection of 
the vehicle and it is then sold by our auction 
partner Manheim. Since its inception in 2006, 
Donate Your Car has received more than 20,000 
donations. All profits from the sale support 
our Studio and Scholarship Programs. It’s not 
just cars, we also take boats, vans, trailers, 
motorbikes, caravans, trucks, tractors and even 
buses! In the 2020 financial year 2,009 vehicles 
were donated. 

This year Kirsten generously donated her 
Honda Jazz to our Donate Your Car Program.  
“I thought it was a really good thing to be  
able to help the young people who benefit  
from Kids Under Cover, especially when  
there is an increased need due to the  
difficulties COVID-19 has bought for  
families,” shared Kirsten.

The Parker Family’s  
Story — LONG TERM  
IMPACT
The generosity of our supporters makes 
a life-changing difference that continues 
long after this support is shown. This was 
certainly the case for the Parker* family, who 
this year celebrated 10 years with their Kids 
Under Cover studio.

10 years ago, this family of seven were living 
in an overcrowded four-bedroom home. When 
they received a Kids Under Cover studio, 
daughter Amy* moved in to the studio. 

“Amy wasn’t coping before the studio. There 
was a time when we thought she would 
have to leave with nowhere to go, it was 
absolutely awful,” mum Anne* tells us. 

With her own space in the studio, Amy went 
on to complete university and now has a 
great job and lives independently. 

“There’s no way she would be where she  
is today without the studio,” Anne says. 

When Amy moved out, her brother Mitchell* 
was able to move into the studio. Mitchell 
has faced many hurdles in his short life. He 
transitioned from female to male, and has  
been diagnosed with mental health issues,  
ADHD, autism and diabetes. Having his  
own space in the studio made a world  
of difference for him.

In this time, the family also took on the care 
of their one-month old nephew. Having the 
support of the Kids Under Cover studio made 
it possible to welcome this new addition to 
the family with open arms.

 I thought it was a really  
good thing to be able to help  
the young people who benefit 
from Kids Under Cover.  

We are so thankful for the generosity of our  
car donors – each and every donation makes  
a difference!
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Marcia & Henry Pinskier’s Story
This year, Marcia and Henry Pinskier made their first 
contribution to Kids Under Cover. Their generous gift 
co-funded two Kids Under Cover studios, changing the 
lives of two young people and their families. Their gift 
will continue to make a positive impact when these 
studios are eventually relocated to prevent more  
young people from experiencing homelessness.

Marcia shares their journey of supporting  
Kids Under Cover.

“We learnt about Kids Under Cover many years ago and 
always remembered the mission of the organisation. It has 
continued to resonate with us through the passage of time. 

We had become increasingly concerned regarding youth 
homelessness in the community. We’ve also had a long-
standing focus on supporting young people, particularly 

where disadvantaged or at risk, to fulfil their potential. 
Kids Under Cover is an organisation that clearly creates 
an opportunity to address both of these objectives. 

In our engagement with Kids Under Cover, we see 
the facilitation of an ongoing hand up, rather than a 
momentary hand out. We see the contribution we’ve 
made at this time as having the potential to make many 
years of difference, and not just for the young person 
to whom it’s specifically directed. The effect is like a 
stone that ripples in a pond - it has positive impacts for 
families and communities across an extended period. 

Nothing is more important than having a roof over 
your head – and so we believe our choices through 
Kids Under Cover will make a substantive difference. 
We look forward to an enduring relationship with Kids 
Under Cover and anticipate bringing others to the 
organisation, to likewise support the incredibly valuable 
work it undertakes.”

PHILANTHROPIC PARTNERS
Partnerships with philanthropic donors are fundamental 
to Kids Under Cover’s work. This year, donations and 
grants from our Philanthropic Partners fully funded 
28 studios, co-funded 35 studios and fully funded our 
Scholarship Program. In 2019-20 Kids Under Cover  
was fortunate to receive financial contributions  
from 61 public and private trusts and foundations.

The Eric & Elizabeth Gross Foundation is one of Kids 
Under Cover’s long-term Philanthropic Partners, having 
first supported Kids Under Cover in 2013. After funding 
approximately 50 Kids Under Cover education scholarships 
in the first two years of the partnership, the Foundation’s 
support has since focused on our Studio Program. 

Across the course of the partnership to date, the 
Foundation has co-funded 13 studios, which provided  
16 young people with secure and stable accommodation. 

In February 2020, the Eric & Elizabeth Gross Foundation 
granted Kids Under Cover $55,000, the culmination of 
the current donation pledge. This contribution co-funded 
a further three studios. The Foundation has committed 
to a further contribution of $60,000 next financial year. 
This gift will be used to leverage our Victorian Property 
Fund funding to build two studios. In the face of increased 
demand for our programs, government and philanthropy 
coming together to maximize their impact has never been 
more important. We are so grateful for the incredible 
support of the Eric & Elizabeth Gross Foundation, and  
all our valued Philanthropic Partners.

Participants in Kids 
in Philanthropy’s 
Hangout for  
the Homeless.

COMMUNITY FUNDRAISING
This year Kids Under Cover was selected as the 
charity partner for Kids in Philanthropy’s annual 
Hangout for the Homeless event. Traditionally 
held in person, Kids in Philanthropy transformed 

the event into a virtual one so it could still 
take place in the face of COVID-19. The event 
in May 2020 saw school kids across Victoria 
and New South Wales coming together online 
to learn about youth homelessness and the 
impact of Kids Under Cover’s preventative work. 
Participants then gave up their bed for a night, 
camping out on their couch or backyard. The 
event more than doubled its fundraising target, 
raising more than $18,000 for Kids Under Cover!

Another significant event that Kids Under Cover 
were a charity partner for in 2020 was the Gala 
Ball for Turosi Giving. We are so grateful for the 
support of Turosi Giving, who raised $70,000 for 
Kids Under Cover on the night. 
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Leveraging Kids Under Cover’s experience 
in building studios over 30 years, our 
Social Enterprise Nestd offers beautiful 
and affordable compact home solutions. 

The strategic priority this year was to validate 
Nestd’s value proposition. Nestd’s designs are 
now available as flat packs, which significantly 
reduces transport costs and increases interstate 
and overseas opportunities.

A new affordable design, The Gable, has been 
introduced to the range, priced under $100,000. 
The Peak 2 was also developed, the two-story 
version of the original Peak design.

Nestd understands the needs of their customers, 
including retail, tourism, property development 
and government sectors.

By ensuring the product mix is desirable, 
establishing a secure supply chain and getting 

the right partners on board, Nestd is positioned 
for great success in the compact home market.

Looking to next year, Nestd will focus on the 
launch of a display centre and selling beautiful, 
affordable and sustainable compact homes both 
interstate and locally.

We are so thankful for the generous on-going  
support of Gandel Philanthropy, one of our  
leading partners. Their most recent 
investment, in Nestd, has made 
the development of this social 
enterprise possible, which has  
the potential to ultimately ensure 
the future sustainability of  
Kids Under Cover.

Above: Nestd’s 
newest design,  
The Gable.

 Nestd is better positioned for success  
in the compact housing market.  

OUR SOCIAL ENTERPRISE
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OUR 
PEOPLE
Our dedicated, passionate and talented 
team work closely together to prevent 
youth homelessness. At Kids Under 
Cover our employees, volunteers and 
supporters all play an important role 
in helping us deliver our Studio and 
Scholarship Programs.

STAFF ENGAGEMENT 
Kids Under Cover conducts an annual Staff 
Engagement Survey. This enables our employees 
to have a voice and drives positive change in the 
organisation. The survey, conducted externally 
by Voice Project, benchmarks our performance 
against industry specific performance indicators. 
Proudly, our strongest performance areas 
show employees believe in the purpose of the 
organisation and the impact we are having. Our 
commitment to action saw an improvement in 
cross-unit collaboration this year, a focus area 
from the previous survey.

WORKING REMOTELY  
AND SAFELY

The COVID-19 pandemic saw the entire Kids 
Under Cover team shift to working remotely in 
March 2020. The safety of our staff remained 
paramount throughout this time, while ensuring 
we could still work effectively. New safety 
measures were put in place for our Maintenance 
Technicians, including additional PPE and more 
contact with a household ahead of a studio visit 
to minimise risk. 

We continue to make preparations for a safe 
return to the office, once this is possible under 
Victorian Government Guidelines.

VOLUNTEERS
Volunteers play an important role in helping 
Kids Under Cover achieve our mission. In the 
2020 financial year, we had 85 volunteers 
donate their time across 105 volunteer shifts, 
totalling 460 hours. This financial year we had 
fewer volunteer opportunities due to COVID-19. 
Key initiatives our volunteers supported us  
with this year included festive season gift 
wrapping, Carols at the District Docklands  
and The Gratitude Project. We are so  
grateful for the ongoing support of our 
dedicated volunteers.

Above: The Kids 
Under Cover team 
staying connected 
on virtual calls while 
working remotely. 
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OUR LEADERSHIP TEAM

JO SWIFT
Chief Executive Officer

Jo joined Kids Under Cover 18 years ago 
and has been CEO since 2007. Under 
her leadership, Kids Under Cover has 
seen significant growth in personnel, 
revenue, and service delivery. Jo’s 
energy and genuine passion for making 
a lasting difference in the lives of young 
people derives from those supported 
by the Kids Under Cover programs. Jo 
is a Director on the boards of Nestd and 
Council to Homeless Persons. 

HEATHER FISHER
Chief Operating Officer

Heather joined Kids Under Cover in 
March 2016, bringing more than 20 
years’ experience to the team. Heather 
commenced her career in a top tier-
chartered accounting firm before moving 
into various executive roles in the 
service industry. Heather is responsible 
for finance, administration, human 
resources, operations, information 
technology, risk and governance. She is 
a respected leader with a reputation for 
integrity, quality, and delivering results.

PETE ZWIERS
Head of Programs

Pete joined in November 2017 
overseeing the end-to-end delivery of 
the Studio and Scholarship Programs. 
Spending more than 10 years in 
the not-for-profit sector and with a 
background in project management, 
Pete has a real passion for affecting 
positive social change through the 
betterment of physical environment 
and improved living conditions.

ADAM WALSH
Head of Fundraising

Adam has been with Kids Under Cover 
since April 2020, and has an extensive 
background in senior fundraising roles 
within International Development, 
Environment, Health and Medical 
Research and Conservation. Adam 
brings a strategic, data-driven approach 
to all our fundraising activities, and  
is passionate about our supporters 
feeling engaged with out work and 
excited about the opportunities they  
are creating for young people.

RACHEL PALMER
Head of Marketing

Rachel joined the Kids Under Cover 
team in September 2019, bringing 
over 10 years’ experience across both 
corporate and not-for-profit sectors. 
Rachel is responsible for ensuring 
Kids Under Cover’s marketing and 
communications demonstrate the 
outcomes enabled by our youth 
homelessness prevention approach. 
Making a positive difference in the 
lives of others drives Rachel in every 
aspect of her work.

LUCY McMORRON
Social Enterprise Lead

Lucy joined Kids Under Cover in 2008 and 
stepped into the role of Social Enterprise 
Lead in September 2019 to oversee 
Nestd operations. Lucy has over 15 years’ 
experience in the not-for-profit sector, 
and was Kids Under Cover’s National 
Marketing and Fundraising Manager from 
2008 to 2014. Socially minded, Lucy 
is passionate about affordable housing 
and preventing youth homelessness. She 
believes that enterprises with a social 
purpose are the best way to do business.

ORGANISATIONAL  
CHART

Head of Fundraising Head of Marketing Head of Programs Social Enterprise Lead

Kids Under Cover Board of Directors

Nestd Board of Directors

Chief Operating Officer

Chief Executive Officer
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OUR BOARD

GEORGE LIACOS
Chair 

George was appointed Chair in  
April 2020, after joining the Kids  
Under Cover Board in August 2018. 
With over 25 years of strategy, 
innovation and industry experience, 
George is a highly sought-after 
public speaker and writer, sharing 
his insights and lessons-learned to 
audiences and readers around the 
world. George is the founder and  
chief strategist of Spark Strategy 
and works across sectors to bring 
people and organisations together 
around their purpose and for massive 
social impact. George also works 
with national and local governments 
undertaking social system reform.  
His vibrant approach and  
impressive business insight, 
particularly in not-for-profits and  
start-ups, make him an incredible 
asset to the organisation. 

NATHANIEL 
POPELIANSKI
Vice Chair

Nathaniel joined the Kids Under Cover 
board in August 2012 and was elected 
Vice Chairman in November 2017.

Nathaniel is a partner at Corrs 
Chambers Westgarth where he is head 
of the national real estate practice. A 
specialist in complex, deadline-driven 
real estate projects, Nathaniel acts 
for corporate clients, developers, 
land owners, housing associations 
and financiers on the full spectrum of 
property issues. With an impressive 
career in Law, Nathaniel ensures Kids 
Under Cover practices are within the 
law and our constitution reflects our 
organisation and growth. 

ALISON TAIT
Treasurer 
Finance, Audit and Risk 
Committee Chair 

Joining the Kids Under Cover Board 
in July 2014, Alison is a Partner 
at PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC) 
and has extensive experience in 
accounting and financial reporting. 
Alison is a member of the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants with a Bachelor 
of Commerce and over 15 years’ 
experience working with ASX listed 
companies and large multinationals 
in the retail, consumer and industrial 
products sector.

DEB TSORBARIS
Director 

Deb joined the board in February 
2017, bringing a wealth of experience 
including government and peak body, 
most recently as CEO of the Centre for 
Excellence in Child and Family Welfare. 
Deb spent six years as CEO at Council 
to Homeless Persons, four years with 
The Department of Health & Human 
Services and was appointed CEO at 
The Centre for Excellence in Child  
and Family Welfare in 2013. 

RENUKA KIMBER
Director 

Renuka joined the board in February 
2019 having spent more than a decade 
working in brand transformation, digital 
strategy and stakeholder relations. 
Renuka holds a Bachelor of Arts from 
the University of Melbourne, Master 
of Media & Communications from the 
University of London and an MBA from 
Melbourne Business School. Drawing on 
her significant experience in consumer 
marketing and business strategy, 
Renuka is passionate about supporting 
change for good and for young people 
in particular. Alongside her technology 
and growth role with KPMG, Renuka 
now extends her breadth of expertise to 
the prevention of youth homelessness.



SARAH DAVIES AM
Remuneration Committee Chair

CEO of Philanthropy Australia, Sarah 
joined the Kids Under Cover board in 
2003. With a background in education, 
Sarah established the Kids Under 
Cover Scholarship Program in 2004. 

Prior to joining Philanthropy Australia, 
she held CEO roles at The Reach 
Foundation and The Australian 
Communities Foundation.  In addition 
to her professional roles, Sarah 
has served on a number of diverse 
Boards and committees. Her current 
community roles include Deputy Chair 
and board member of the Centre for 
Social Impact, Director of Ladder  
and Council Member of the  
National Museum of Australia. 

DEANNE POINTON
Director

Joining the Board in December 2019, 
Deanne has over 20 years’ experience 
across service industry, property and 
large private companies. Currently the 
CFO of Bendigo Heritage Attractions, 
Deanne’s skills and experience in 
financial acumen, governance and 
commercial focus on business activities 
are an enormous asset to Kids Under 
Cover. She is a Graduate of the Australian 
Institute of Company Directors, holds a 
Bachelor of Business (Commerce) and 
is a member of CPA Australia. Deanne 
is passionate about Kids Under Cover’s 
prevention model and believes equitable 
access to education for young people  
is key to a better tomorrow.

BOARD COMMITTEES
Finance, Audit and  
Risk Committee

Assists the board in fulfilling 
its fiduciary responsibilities 
and ensures the ongoing fiscal 
accuracy and health  
of the organisation.

Identifies, reviews and rates 
the potential current and future 
risks to the organisation. 
The committee ensures 
appropriate systems, 
measures and support are  
in place to minimise risks  
to the organisation.

The committee guarantees 
policies and processes are 
observed and ensure we 
receive an unqualified audit 
report each year from  
Pitcher Partners.

Remuneration Committee

Reviews pay, conditions 
and performance of senior 
management and reviews 
recommendations made  
by the CEO in relation to  
staff recognition. 

GOVERNANCE
THE BOARD
The Kids Under Cover Board is responsible for the overall governance 
of the organisation including its strategic direction, establishing goals 
for management and monitoring the achievement of those goals. The 
board convenes a minimum of six times per year plus an additional 
meeting at the Annual General Meeting (AGM).

Code of Conduct

Under the leadership of the Chair and the CEO, and within the 
boundaries of the constitution, the board determines and articulates 
the values, vision and the strategic direction of Kids Under Cover.  
In doing this, the board is expected to:

•  meet fiduciary responsibilities 
as required under all relevant 
commonwealth and state 
legislation;

•  act within their duty of care 
to make decisions in the best 
interests of Kids Under Cover;

• avoid conflicts of interest;

•  develop strategic planning 
and direction of Kids Under 
Cover including monitoring 
organisational performance 
and evaluating strategic results;

• endorse internal policies;

•  report back to the 
stakeholders at the AGM;

•  monitor the organisational 
compliance with the relevant 
commonwealth and state 
legislation and with  
Kids Under Cover’s  
own policies; and

•  evaluate its  
effectiveness  
as a board.
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Shaylee and  
her Kids Under 
Cover studio.
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DIRECTOR’S REPORT

The directors present their report together with the 
financial report of the group, being the organisation and  
its controlled entity, for the year ended 30 June 2020  
and auditor’s report thereon.

DIRECTORS’ NAMES

The names of the directors in office at any time during  
or since the end of the year are: 

George Liacos 
Nathaniel Popelianski 
Alison Tait 
Sarah Davies AM 
Deb Tsorbaris 
Renuka Kimber 
Deanne Pointon (appointed December 19) 
Colin Radford (resigned April 20)

The directors have been in office since the start of the  
year to the date of this report unless otherwise stated.

RESULTS

The operating deficiency of the group for the year 
amounted to $1,944,330 (2019: $868,608).

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

The group continued to engage in its principal activity,  
the results of which are disclosed in the attached  
financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN STATE OF AFFAIRS

On 11th March 2020 the World Health Organisation 
declared an ongoing global outbreak of a novel 
coronavirus, known as ‘coronavirus disease 2019’ 
(‘COVID-19’) as a pandemic.

The pandemic and the respective Victorian State and 
Federal Government’s response to the pandemic continues 
to inhibit general activity levels within the community, the 
economy and the operations of the groups’ activities.

Since 30 June 2020, there has been a stage 4 lockdown 
imposed in Victoria which has required the group’s staff 
to work remotely and there is an expectation while these 
restrictions remain in place that traditional fundraising 
activities of the group will be impacted.

The scale and duration of these developments remain 
uncertain as at the date of signing these financial 
statements, however they will potentially impact on the 
group’s future earnings, cash flow and financial condition.

The Directors and management continue to assess the 
impact of the pandemic on the groups operations.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the group during the year were:

 - Provision of one and two bedroom studios; 
 - Provision of scholarships; and 
 -  Fundraising through gifts, donations, government and 

philanthropic grants, appeals, events and regular  
giving programs.

No other significant change in the nature of these activities 
occurred during the year.

SHORT-TERM AND LONG-TERM OBJECTIVES AND 
STRATEGIES

The Organisation’s short and long-term objective is to 
prevent youth homelessness. The Organisation’s strategies 
to achieve this objective include:

 -  constructing purpose built, demountable studios for 
homeless and at-risk young people

 -  providing scholarships for education or job training  
for young people.

In doing this the company seeks to keep families together, 
keep young people engaged in education and connected 
with their community.

PERFORMANCE MEASURES

To evaluate the efficiency and effectiveness of the 
organisation’s programs, a monitoring & evaluation 
framework is in place. The annual evaluation report  
can be found in the annual report.

AFTER BALANCE DATE EVENTS

Particulars of matters or circumstances that have arisen 
since the end of the financial year which significantly 
affected or may significantly affect the operations of the 
group, the results of those operations or the state of affairs 
of the group in future financial years are as follows:

On 11 March 2020, the existence of COVID-19 was  
declared a pandemic by the World Health Organisation. 
This has resulted in significant disruption in global and 
domestic markets.

A number of events have arisen since the end of the 
reporting period such as new COVID-19 outbreaks  
in Victoria and government response such as  
reimposed lockdowns.

At the date of signing of the financial statements, there is 
still significant uncertainty on the likely duration and the 
ultimate impact COVID-19 will have on world economies. 
The directors and management continue to assess the 
impact of COVID-19 on the group.
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INFORMATION ON DIRECTORS

NAME EXPERIENCE SPECIAL RESPONSIBILITIES

George Liacos Managing Director at Spark Strategy, George is 
a strategic advisor to the social sector, corporate 
entities and government bodies. An entrepreneur 
with strong start-up and digital background, he 
holds a MBA from Melbourne University, BEc from 
Sydney University and GAICD from the AICD.

Board Chair

Nathaniel Popelianski Partner at Corrs Chambers Westgarth. Nathaniel 
specialises in property law, has a Bachelor of 
Commerce, a Bachelor of Laws, has been in 
practice since 1997 and is national practice group 
leader of the Property & Infrastructure Practice.

Vice Chair

Alison Tait Partner at PwC. Alison holds a Bachelor of 
Commerce, is a member of the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants and has over 15 years’ 
experience working with ASX listed companies 
and large multinationals.

Finance, Audit and Risk 
Committee Chair & Treasurer

Sarah Davies AM Chief Executive Officer of Philanthropy Australia 
and Board Member of the Centre for Social 
Impact. Sarah has an extensive background  
in the tertiary education sector.

Remuneration Committee Chair

Deb Tsorbaris Chief Executive Officer at Centre for Excellence in 
Child and Family Welfare. In her previous roles, 
Deb had worked as Director at Department of 
Health & Human Service and Chief Executive 
Officer at Council to Homeless Persons.

Renuka Kimber Senior Manager at KPMG in technology and 
innovation. Renuka has more than a decade 
of experience in brand transformation, digital 
strategy and stakeholder relations.

Deanne Pointon Graduate of the Australian Institute of Company 
Directors, has a Bachelor of Business (Commerce) 
and is a member of CPA Australia. Deanne has 
over 20 years of experience across the service 
industry, property and large private companies.
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DIRECTOR’S REPORT

MEETINGS OF DIRECTORS

DIRECTORS
NUMBER ELIGIBLE 
TO ATTEND

NUMBER 
ATTENDED

George Liacos 6 6

Nathaniel Popelianski 6 6

Alison Tait 6 5

Sarah Davies AM 6 4

Deb Tsorbaris 6 5

Renuka Kimber 6 5

Deanne Pointon 3 3

Colin Radford 5 5

MEMBERS GUARANTEE

The group is incorporated under the Corporations Act 2001 and is a group limited by guarantee. If the group is wound up, the 
Constitution states that each member is required to contribute to a maximum of $1 each towards meeting any outstandings 
and obligations of the group. At 30 June 2020 the number of members was 7. The combined total amount that members of 
the group are liable to contribute if the group is wound up is $7.

Signed on behalf of the board of directors.

George Liacos Alison Tait

Director 
Dated this 30th day of October 2020

Director
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KIDS UNDER COVER AND CONTROLLED ENTITY
ABN: 76 604 592 013

AUDITOR'S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION
TO THE DIRECTORS OF KIDS UNDER COVER

In relation to the independent audit for the year ended 30 June 2020, to the best of my knowledge and
belief there have been no contraventions of APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including
Independence Standards).

This declaration is in respect of Kids Under Cover and the entities it controlled during the year.

B POWERS PITCHER PARTNERS

Partner Melbourne

Date: 30 October 2020

- 6 -

Pitcher Partners. An independent Victorian Partnership ABN 27 975 255 196. Level 13, 664 Collins Street, Docklands, VIC 3008

Pitcher Partners is an association of independent firms. Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.

Pitcher Partners is a member of the global network of Baker Tilly International Limited, the members of which are separate and independent legal entities.

Adelaide  Brisbane  Melbourne  Newcastle  Sydney  Perth     pitcher.com.au

AUDITORS DECLARATION
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

NOTE
2020  

$
2019 

$

REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME

Government funding 2 2,550,405 3,169,565

FUNDRAISING

Donations and gifts 2 5,087,022 5,587,961

OTHER INCOME 

Gain on sale of investments 77,371 (24,557)

Sundry income 3 55,832 12,711

Investment income 3 79,861 161,222

JobKeeper and cashflow boost 3 242,000 -

Gain on disposal of assets 3           21,878         224,118

     8,114,369      9,131,020

LESS: EXPENSES 

Social enterprise (276,602) (328,068)

General Marketing and fundraising (1,325,843) (1,464,285)

Donate Your Car® (483,681) (718,226)

Scholarship program costs (1,050,212) (873,815)

Studio program costs (5,269,624) (5,269,822)

Management and administration costs     (1,652,737)     (1,345,412)

  (10,058,699)     (9,999,628)

DEFICIT BEFORE INCOME TAX EXPENSE (1,944,330) (868,608)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (DEFICIT) / INCOME 
FOR THE YEAR                     -                     -

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE DEFICIT     (1,944,330)        (868,608)

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION  
AS AT 30 JUNE 2020

NOTE
2020 

$
2019 

$

CURRENT ASSETS 

Cash and cash equivalents 5 1,658,361 5,198,097

Receivables 6 370,688 798,328

Other financial assets 7 2,378,019 2,516,331

Other assets 8         257,358         202,584

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS      4,664,426      8,715,340

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Intangible assets 9 123,323 223,236

Lease assets 10 210,121 -

Property, plant and equipment 11      9,279,511      7,386,187

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS      9,612,955      7,609,423

TOTAL ASSETS    14,277,381    16,324,763

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Payables 12 793,182 873,684

Lease liabilities 10 188,904 -

Provisions 13 608,136 534,901

Other liabilities 14      1,591,470      2,059,000

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES      3,181,692      3,467,585

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Lease liabilities 10 32,304 -

Provisions 13         257,773         107,236

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES         290,077         107,236

TOTAL LIABILITIES      3,471,769      3,574,821

NET ASSETS    10,805,612    12,749,942

EQUITY

Reserves 15 1,146,032 2,727,883

Retained earnings 9,659,580    10,022,059

TOTAL EQUITY 10,805,612    12,749,942
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

CONTRIBUTED 
EQUITY $

RESERVES $ RETAINED 
EARNINGS $

TOTAL EQUITY 
$

BALANCE AS AT 1 JULY 2018 - 2,957,136 10,661,414 13,618,550

Deficit for the year                     -                     -        (868,608)        (868,608)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR                     -                     -        (868,608)        (868,608)

Transfers                     -        (229,253)         229,253                     -

BALANCE AS AT 30 JUNE 2019                     -      2,727,883    10,022,059    12,749,942

BALANCE AS AT 1 JULY 2019 - 2,727,883 10,022,059 12,749,942

Deficit for the year                     -                     - (1,944,330) (1,944,330)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR                     -                     - (1,944,330) (1,944,330)

Transfers                     -     (1,581,851)      1,581,851                     -

BALANCE AS AT 30 JUNE 2020                     -      1,146,032 9,659,580 10,805,612

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

NOTE 2020 $ 2019 $

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

Grants and donations received 8,725,762 10,504,953

Payments to suppliers and employees (6,367,716) (5,257,686)

Interest received 79,860 161,222

Scholarships paid        (742,171)        (506,051)

NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES      1,695,735      4,902,438

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 37,624 45,437

Proceeds from sale of investments 2,516,331 -

Proceeds from sale of current assets held for sale 45,455 348,876

Payment for property, plant and equipment (5,318,681) (4,915,410)

Payment for investments (2,500,000) (31,542)

Payment for intangible assets          (16,200)        (219,080)

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES     (5,235,471)     (4,771,719)

RECONCILIATION OF CASH

Cash at beginning of the financial year 5,198,097 5,067,378

Net increase / (decrease) in cash held     (3,539,736)         130,719

CASH AT END OF FINANCIAL YEAR      1,658,361      5,198,097

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT  
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The financial report is a general purpose financial report that 
has been prepared in accordance with the Australian Charities 
and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 and Australian 
Accounting Standards - Reduced Disclosure Requirements, 
Interpretations and other applicable authoritative 
pronouncements of the Australian Accounting  
Standards Board.

The financial report covers Kids Under Cover and its 
consolidated entity. Kids Under Cover is a organisation limited 
by guarantee, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. Kids 
Under Cover is a not-for-profit entity for the purpose of 
preparing the financial statements.

The financial report was approved by the directors as at the 
date of the directors’ report.

The following are the significant accounting policies 
adopted by the group in the preparation and presentation 
of the financial report. The accounting policies have been 
consistently applied, unless otherwise stated.

(A) BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE FINANCIAL REPORT

Historical Cost Convention

The financial report has been prepared on an accruals basis 
and is based on historical costs, modified, where applicable, by 
the measurement at fair value of selected non-current assets, 
financial assets and financial liabilities. Cost is based on the 
fair values of the consideration given in exchange for assets..

(B) INCOME TAX

No provision for income tax has been raised as the group is 
exempt from income tax under Division 50 of the Income Tax 
Assessment Act 1997.

(C) GOING CONCERN

During the financial year the group incurred a deficit of 
$1,944,330 (2019: $868,608 deficit) and cash inflows from 
operations of $1,695,735 (2019: $4,902,438).

The Group has performed an assessment of its ability to 
continue as a going concern, which included an analysis of 
the cash flow forecasts for the 12 month period from the 
date of the financial report. The assessment considered 
the government funding in place for the period and the 
forecast fundraising based on the group’s approved budget. 
The forecast for fundraising cash flows was based on past 
history and considered the potential impact of the current 
economic environment, these cash flows were considered 
to be a critical judgement given the level of uncertainty 
over the forecast period. The analysis assessed the 
funding commitments for building and maintaining studios, 
scholarship costs and the group’s underlying operating 
costs

Based on the cash flow forecast the group considered 
the available cash balance and investment reserves. To 
meet the group’s funding commitments a portion of the 
investment reserves would need to be liquidated during 
the forecast period and the underlying level of investment 
reserves available to the group would be subject to market 

outcomes and the performance of the investments.

The Directors have prepared the accounts on a going 
concern basis, taking into consideration the judgements 
above, and the continuity of normal business activities and 
the realisation of assets and the settlement of liabilities in 
the ordinary course of business.

(D) ECONOMIC DEPENDENCY

The company is dependent upon the ongoing receipt  
of grants and donations to ensure the continuance of  
its studio and scholarship programs.

(E) NEW AND REVISED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS 
EFFECTIVE AT 30 JUNE 2020

The group has applied all new and revised Australian 
Accounting Standards that apply to annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after 1 July 2019, including  
AASB 16 Leases (AASB 16).

AASB 16: Leases

AASB 16 replaces AASB 117 Leases and introduces a single 
lessee accounting model that requires a lessee to recognise 
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for all leases with a 
term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset 
is of low value. Right-of-use assets are initially measured at 
cost and lease liabilities are initially measured on a present 
value basis. Subsequent to initial recognition:

(a)  right-of-use assets are accounted for on a similar basis 
to non-financial assets, whereby the right-of-use asset 
is accounted for on a cost basis unless the underlying 
asset is accounted for on a revaluation basis, in which 
case if the underlying asset is:

 i.  investment property, the lessee applies the fair  
value model in AASB 140 Investment Property to  
the right-of-use asset; or

 ii.  property, plant or equipment, the applies the 
revaluation model in AASB 116 Property, Plant and 
Equipment to all of the right-of-use assets that relate 
to that class of property, plant and equipment; and

(b)  lease liabilities are accounted for on a similar basis 
to other financial liabilities, whereby interest expense 
is recognised in respect of the lease liability and the 
carrying amount of the lease liability is reduced to 
reflect the principal portion of lease payments made.

AASB 16 substantially carries forward the lessor 
accounting requirements of the predecessor standard, 
AASB 117. Accordingly, under AASB 16 a lessor continues 
to classify its leases as operating leases or finance leases 
subject to whether the lease transfers to the lessee 
substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership of the underlying asset, and accounts for each 
type of lease in a manner consistent with the current 
approach under AASB 117 

In accordance with the transition requirements of AASB 16, 
the group has elected to apply AASB 16 retrospectively to 
those contracts that were previously identified as leases 
under the predecessor standard, with the cumulative effect, 
if any, of initially applying the new standard recognised 
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as an adjustment to opening retained earnings at the 
date of initial application (i.e., at 1 July 2019). Accordingly, 
comparative information has not been restated.

The group has also elected to apply the following  
practical expedients to the measurement of right-of-use 
assets and lease liabilities in relation to those leases 
previously classified as operating leases under the 
predecessor standard:

-  to recognise each right-of-use asset at the date of initial 
application at an amount equal to the lease liability, 
adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or accrued  
lease payments relating to that lease recognised in  
the statement of financial position immediately  
before the date of initial application;

-  to not recognise a right-of-use asset and a lease liability 
for leases for which the underlying asset is of low value;

-  to not recognise a right-of-use asset and a lease liability 
for leases for which the lease term ends within 12 months 
of the date of initial application;

-  to apply a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases  
with reasonably similar characteristics;

-  to adjust each right-of-use asset at the date of initial 
application by the amount of any provision for onerous 
leases recognised in the statement of financial position 
immediately before the date of initial application;

-  to exclude initial direct costs from the measurement of 
each right-of-use asset at the date of initial application; 
and

-  to use hindsight, such as in determining the lease term  
if the contract contains options to extend or terminate  
the lease.

The application of AASB 16 resulted in the recognition of 
right-of-use assets with an aggregate carrying amount 
of $210,121 (referred to in these financial statements as 
“lease assets”) and corresponding lease liabilities with 
an aggregate carrying amount of $221,208. The weighted 
average incremental borrowing rate applied in the 
calculation of the initial carrying amount of lease  
liabilities was 4.00% per annum.

(F) REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS

Revenue from government grants

The group receives government grant funding in advance 
and allocates the grants to individuals who have applied 
for scholarships and/or studio housing. Revenue from the 
provision of scholarships is recognised upon payment of 
the scholarship to the successful student and revenue 
from building studios is recognised when the studio has 
been built and the certificate of completion has been 
signed-off.

For other non-reciprocal grants received, revenue is 
recognised upon receipt of the funds which is when  
the entity obtains control of the contribution or grant  
and it is probable that the economic benefits will flow  
to the entity.

(G) INCOME ARISING FROM THE TRANSFER OF ASSETS

The group derives income from the transfer of assets when 
the group provides no consideration in exchange for the 
asset received, or the consideration provided by the group 
is significantly less than the fair value of the asset received, 
principally to enable the group to further its objectives, 
and the arrangement does not satisfy the criteria to be 
accounted for as a ‘contract with a customer’.

Donations

Cash donations and goods donated for resale are 
recognised as income when the group obtains control 
of the asset. Cash is recognised at the fair value of the 
consideration received.

(H) OTHER REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME

Investment income

Investment income comprises of Interest revenue and 
dividend income and is recognised when it is received.

In-kind donations

Goods and services donated to the company are included 
at fair value to the company where this can be quantified. 
No amounts are included in the financial statements for 
services donated by volunteers. Goods donated for resale, 
raffle and auction are included as income when they  
are sold.

Asset sales

The gain or loss on disposal of all non-current assets is 
determined as the difference between the carrying amount 
of the asset at the time of disposal and the net proceeds  
on disposals.

All revenue is measured net of the amount of goods and 
services tax (GST)

(I) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised 
when the group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. For financial assets, this  
is equivalent to the date that the group commits itself to 
either the purchase or sale of the asset (i.e. trade date 
accounting is adopted).

Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value 
adjusted for transaction costs, except where the instrument 
is classified as fair value through profit or loss, in which 
case transaction costs are immediately recognised as 
expenses in profit or loss.

Classification of financial assets

Financial assets recognised by the group are subsequently 
measured in their entirety at either amortised cost or 
fair value, subject to their classification and whether the 
group irrevocably designates the financial asset on initial 
recognition at fair value through other comprehensive 
income (FVtOCI) in accordance with the relevant criteria  
in AASB 9.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 (CONTINUED)
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Financial assets not irrevocably designated on initial 
recognition at FVtOCI are classified as subsequently 
measured at amortised cost, FVtOCI or fair value  
through profit or loss (FVtPL) on the basis of both:

(a)  the group’s business model for managing the  
financial assets; and

(b)  the contractual cash flow characteristics  
of the financial asset.

(J) PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Each class of property, plant and equipment is measured at 
cost or fair value less, where applicable, any accumulated 
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

Any property, plant or equipment donated to the company 
or acquired for nominal cost is recognised at fair value at 
the date the company obtains control of the assets

Houses

Houses are carried at cost and assessed for fair value 
impairment every year.

The land on which the houses are situated is utilised  
under a long-term lease from the government and  
is not owned by the company.

Studios

Studios are carried at cost and assessed for fair  
value impairment every year.

All studios currently held, irrespective of funding  
source, are the property of the company.

Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment is carried at cost less  
accumulated depreciation.

Depreciation

The depreciable amount of all other property, plant and 
equipment is depreciated over their estimated useful  
lives commencing from the time the asset is held available 
for use. Depreciation is calculated on a straight line and 
diminishing value basis over the expected economic lives  
as follows: 

(K) IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

Assets other than goodwill, intangible assets not yet  
ready for use and intangible assets with indefinite  
useful lives are assessed for impairment whenever  
events or circumstances arise that indicate the asset  
may be impaired.

An impairment loss is recognised when the carrying 
amount of an asset exceeds the asset’s recoverable 
amount. The recoverable amount of an asset is defined 
as the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and value 
in use (where ‘value in use’ is determined as the current 
replacement cost).

Impairment losses in respect of individual assets are 
recognised immediately in profit or loss unless the asset 
is measured at a revalued amount, in which case the 
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease and 
is recognised in other comprehensive income to the extent 
that it does not exceed the amount in the revaluation 
surplus for the same class of asset.

A reversal of an impairment loss for an asset measured 
at cost is recognised in profit or loss. A reversal of an 
impairment loss for an asset measured at a revalued 
amount is treated as a revaluation increase and is 
recognised in other comprehensive income, except to  
the extent that an impairment loss on the same class of 
asset was previously recognised in profit or loss, in which 
case a reversal of that impairment loss is also recognised 
in profit or loss.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 (CONTINUED)

CLASS OF FIXED ASSET
DEPRECIATION 

RATES
DEPRECIATION 

BASIS

Houses at cost 5% Straight line

Studios at cost 25% Straight line

Leasehold improvements at cost 33% Straight line

Motor vehicles at cost 25% Diminishing value

Office equipment at cost 5%-40% Diminishing value
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(I) EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

(i) Short-term employee benefit obligations

Liabilities arising in respect of wages and salaries, annual 
leave and other employee benefits (other than termination 
benefits) expected to be settled wholly before twelve months 
after the end of the reporting period are measured at the 
(undiscounted) amounts based on remuneration rates which 
are expected to be paid when the liability is settled. The 
expected cost of short-term employee benefits in the form of 
compensated absences such as annual leave is recognised 
in the provision for employee benefits. All other short-term 
employee benefit obligations are presented as payables in 
the consolidated statement of financial position.

(ii) Long-term employee benefit obligations

The provision for other long-term employee benefits, 
including obligations for long service leave and annual  
leave, which are not expected to be settled wholly before 
twelve months after the end of the reporting period, are 
measured at the present value of the estimated future cash 
outflow to be made in respect of the services provided 
by employees up to the reporting date. Expected future 
payments incorporate anticipated future wage and salary 
levels, durations of service and employee turnover, and  
are discounted at rates determined by reference to market 
yields at the end of the reporting period on government 
bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the 
benefits will be paid. Any remeasurements for changes in 
assumptions of obligations for other long-term employee 
benefits are recognised in profit or loss in the periods in 
which the change occurs.

Other long-term employee benefit obligations are  
presented as current liabilities in the consolidated 
statement of financial position if the group does not  
have an unconditional right to defer settlement for at  
least twelve months after the reporting date, regardless  
of when the actual settlement is expected to occur. All  
other long-term employee benefit obligations are  
presented as non-current liabilities in the consolidated 
statement of financial position.

(M) PROVISIONS

Provisions are recognised when the group has a legal  
or constructive obligation, as a result of past events, for 
which it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits 
will result and that outflow can be reliably measured.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate 
of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation 
at the end of the reporting period.

(N) LEASES

Accounting policy applied to the information presented  
for the current period under AASB 16 Leases:

At the commencement date of a lease (other than leases 
of 12-months or less and leases of low value assets), the 
group recognises a lease asset representing its right to  
use the underlying asset and a lease liability representing 
its obligation to make lease payments.

Lease assets

Lease assets are initially recognised at cost, comprising the 
amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability, any 
lease payments made at or before the commencement date 
of the lease, less any lease incentives received, any initial 
direct costs incurred by the group, and an estimate of costs 
to be incurred by the group in dismantling and removing the 
underlying asset, restoring the site on which it is located or 
restoring the underlying asset to the condition required by 
the terms and conditions of the lease, unless those costs 
are incurred to produce inventories.

Subsequent to initial recognition, lease assets are 
measured at cost (adjusted for any remeasurement of the 
associated lease liability), less accumulated depreciation 
and any accumulated impairment loss.

Lease assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease 
term and the estimated useful life of the underlying asset, 
consistent with the estimated consumption of the economic 
benefits embodied in the underlying asset.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are initially recognised at the present  
value of the future lease payments (i.e., the lease payments 
that are unpaid at the commencement date of the lease). 
These lease payments are discounted using the interest 
rate implicit in the lease, if that rate can be readily 
determined, or otherwise using the group’s  
incremental borrowing rate.

Subsequent to initial recognition, lease liabilities are 
measured at the present value of the remaining lease 
payments (i.e., the lease payments that are unpaid at the 
reporting date). Interest expense on lease liabilities is 
recognised in profit or loss (presented as a component  
of finance costs). Lease liabilities are remeasured to  
reflect changes to lease terms, changes to lease  
payments and any lease modifications not accounted  
for as separate leases.

Variable lease payments not included in the  
measurement of lease liabilities are recognised  
as an expense when incurred.

Leases of 12-months or less and leases of low value assets

Lease payments made in relation to leases of 12-months 
or less and leases of low value assets (for which a lease 
asset and a lease liability has not been recognised) are 
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over  
the lease term.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 (CONTINUED)



Kids Under Cover Annual Report 2020  39

Covid-19 related rent concessions

The group has elected to apply the practical expedient 
(as permitted by Australian Accounting Standards) not 
to assess whether rent concessions occurring as a 
direct consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic are lease 
modifications, and to account for any changes in lease 
payments resulting from the rent concessions as if the 
changes were not lease modifications. Any gains arising 
from Covid-19 related rent concessions are recognised  
in profit or loss.

The practical expedient only applies to rent concessions 
occurring as a direct consequence of the Covid-19 
pandemic and only if all the following conditions  
are met:

(a)  the change in lease payments results in revised 
consideration for the lease that is substantially the 
same as, or less than, the consideration for the lease 
immediately preceding the change;

(b)  any reduction in lease payments affects only payments 
due on or before 30 June 2021; and

(c)  there is no substantive change to other terms and 
conditions of the lease.

Accounting policy applied to the information presented  
for the prior period under AASB 117 Leases:

Leases are classified at their inception as either operating 
or finance leases based on the economic substance of the 
agreement so as to reflect the risks and benefits incidental  
to ownership.

(O) GOODS AND SERVICES TAX (GST)

Revenues, expenses and purchased assets are recognised 
net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST 
incurred is not recoverable from the Tax Office. In these 
circumstances the GST is recognised as part of the cost of 
acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense. 
Receivables and payables in the consolidated statement of 
financial position are shown inclusive of GST.

Cash flows are presented in the consolidated statement of 
cash flows on a gross basis, except for the GST component 
of investing and financing activities, which are disclosed as 
operating cash flows.

(P) COMPARATIVES

Where necessary, comparative information has been 
reclassified and repositioned for consistency with  
current year disclosures.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 (CONTINUED)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020  

2020  
$

2019 
$

NOTE 2: REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS

Government funding 2,550,405 3,169,565

Fundraising 

 Donations and gifts      5,087,022      5,587,961

     7,637,427      8,757,526

NOTE 3: OTHER REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME

Other Income

Gain on sale of investments 77,371 (24,557)

Sundry income 55,832 12,711

Investment income 79,861 161,222

JobKeeper and cashflow boost 242,000 -

Gain on disposal of assets           21,878         224,118

        476,942         373,494

NOTE 4: OPERATING DEFICIT

Deficit has been determined after: 

Finance costs 12,066 -

Depreciation

- houses & studios 3,353,528 3,489,814

- leasehold improvements - 244

- motor vehicles 22,365 11,870

- office furniture and equipment           26,266           14,172

3,402,159 3,516,100

Amortisation of non-current assets

- leased assets 187,059 -

- CRM software         116,112           58,989

303,171 58,989

Impairment

- Impairment losses on assets held for sale 45,000 188,894

Employee benefits 2,819,587 2,145,757

Loss on fair value adjustments 

- Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 131,793 4,380

Net loss on disposal of non-current assets

- Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment and studios 158,300 319,537
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 (CONTINUED)

2020 
$

2019 
$

NOTE 5: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash on hand 895 111

Cash at bank      1,657,466      5,197,986

     1,658,361      5,198,097

NOTE 6: RECEIVABLES

CURRENT

Receivables from contracts with customers 4,280 14,135

Other receivables

- Accrued income 183,500 726,000

- GST receivable 72,908 58,193

- Other debtors         110,000                     -

        366,408         784,193

        370,688         798,328

NOTE 7: OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

CURRENT 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Investment in managed funds      2,378,019      2,516,331

NOTE 8: OTHER ASSETS

CURRENT

Prepayments 202,358 52,584

Assets held for sale 55,000         150,000

257,358         202,584

Prototypes developed for Nestd are expected to be realised within the next 12 months are considered assets held for sale

NOTE 9: INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Website at cost - 32,755

Accumulated amortisation and impairment                     -          (32,755)

- -

CRM Software at cost 298,425 282,225

Accumulated amortisation and impairment        (175,102)          (58,989)

        123,323         223,236

TOTAL INTANGIBLE ASSETS         123,323         223,236
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 (CONTINUED)

2020  
$

NOTE 10: LEASE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES

Lease arrangements (30 June 2020)

The following information relates to the current reporting period only, and is presented in accordance with AASB 16 
Leases (which was applied by the group for the first time in the current reporting period).

(a) Lease assets

Under lease 397,180

Accumulated depreciation        (187,059)

        210,121

TOTAL CARRYING AMOUNT OF LEASE ASSETS         210,121

Leased land and buildings

Opening carrying amount -

Additions 397,180

Depreciation        (187,059)

CLOSING CARRYING AMOUNT         210,121

(b) Lease liabilities

CURRENT Lease liability         188,904

NON CURRENT Lease liability           32,304

TOTAL CARRYING AMOUNT OF LEASE LIABILITIES         221,208

(c) Lease expenses and cashflows

Interest expense on lease liabilities 12,066

Depreciation expense on lease assets 187,059
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 (CONTINUED)

2020  
$

2019 
$

NOTE 11: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Land and buildings 

At cost 251,675 251,675

Accumulated depreciation        (188,757)        (176,174)

          62,918           75,501

Studios

At cost 27,226,453 23,307,221

Accumulated depreciation   (18,734,560)   (16,072,340)

     8,491,893      7,234,881

Leasehold improvements

At cost 4,620 4,620

Accumulated depreciation            (4,620)            (4,620)

- -

TOTAL LAND AND BUILDINGS      8,554,811      7,310,382

Motor vehicles

At cost 121,190 68,445

Accumulated depreciation          (25,604)          (23,935)

95,586 44,510

Office equipment

At cost 135,276 91,205

Accumulated depreciation          (86,175)          (59,910)

49,101 31,295

Capital works in progress         580,013                     -

TOTAL PLANT AND EQUIPMENT         724,700           75,805

TOTAL PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT      9,279,511      7,386,187
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 (CONTINUED)

2020  
$

2019  
$

NOTE 11: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

(a) Reconciliations

Land and buildings

Opening carrying amount 75,501 88,085

Depreciation expense          (12,583)          (12,584)

Closing carrying amount           62,918           75,501

Buildings

Opening carrying amount 7,234,881 6,196,213

Additions 4,751,710 4,861,526

Disposals (153,755) (345,628)

Depreciation expense     (3,340,943)     (3,477,230)

Closing carrying amount      8,491,893      7,234,881

Motor vehicles

Opening carrying amount 44,510 42,669

Additions 89,187 32,003

Disposals (15,746) (18,292)

Depreciation expense          (22,365)          (11,870)

Closing carrying amount           95,586           44,510

Office equipment

Opening carrying amount 31,295 87,786

Additions 44,073 21,881

Disposals - (1,046)

Depreciation expense (26,267) (14,172)

Reclassified to intangible assets                     -          (63,154)

Closing carrying amount           49,101           31,295

Capital work in progress

Opening carrying amount - -

Additions         580,013                     -

Closing carrying amount         580,013                     -

Additions to capital WIP in FY21 relate to capital work-in-progress of constructed studios for Village 21 at 30 June 2020 
and display stock WIP relating to Nestd’s activities.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 (CONTINUED)

2020  
$

2019 
$

NOTE 12: PAYABLES

Unsecured liabilities

Trade creditors 376,679 785,061

Sundry creditors and accruals         416,503           88,623

        793,182         873,684

NOTE 13: PROVISIONS

CURRENT 

Employee benefits (a) 142,185 181,153

Scholarships         465,951         353,748

        608,136         534,901

NON CURRENT

Employee benefits (a) 14,373 19,936

Scholarships         243,400           87,300

        257,773         107,236

(a) Aggregate employee benefits liability 156,558 201,089

NOTE 14: OTHER LIABILITIES

CURRENT 

Grants received in advance 1,591,470 2,059,000

NOTE 15: RESERVES

Studio program reserve 806,908 1,968,165

Scholarship program reserve 129,130 506,043

Scholarship endowment reserve 209,994 209,994

Fair value reserve - 43,681

1,146,032 2,727,883

NOTE 15: RESERVES (CONTINUED) 

Studio program reserve:

The studio program reserve has been established to  
record funds raised by donation to the company for  
use in its studio program.

Scholarship program reserve:

The scholarship program reserve has been established  
to record funds raised by donation to the company for  
use in its scholarship program.

Scholarship endowment reserve:

The scholarship endowment reserve was established  
from funds received from the Estate of Cecelia Murnane. 
These funds are held in perpetuity with 80% of the income 
relating to these funds being used to pay scholarships and 
the balance retained to increase the fund.

Fair value reserve:

The fair value reserve represents unrealised increments  
in the market value of the share portfolio which is held in  
a managed fund.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 (CONTINUED)

2020 
$

2019 
$

NOTE 16: KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL COMPENSATION

Compensation received by key management personnel of the group 

- short-term employee benefits 876,457 654,013

- other employment benefits 79,672 59,664

956,129 713,677

The above remuneration for KMPs relates to 6 full time equivalents (2019: 5 full time equivalents).

2020  
$

2019 
$

NOTE 18: PARENT ENTITY DETAILS

Summarised presentation of the parent entity, Kids Under Cover, 
financial statements:

(a) Summarised consolidated statement of financial position

Assets

Current assets 4,594,604 9,532,467

Non-current assets    10,390,159      7,609,423

Total assets    14,984,763    17,141,890

Liabilities

Current liabilities 3,138,173 3,447,025

Non-current liabilities         290,077         107,236

Total liabilities      3,428,250      3,554,261

Net assets    11,556,513    13,587,629

Equity

Accumulated surplus    11,556,513    13,587,629

Total equity    11,556,513    13,587,629

(b) Summarised consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income

Deficit for the year (1,920,419) (545,330)

Other comprehensive income for the year - -

Total comprehensive income for the year     (1,920,419)        (545,330)

NOTE 17: RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) Directors

Directors of the Company in office during the year  
are disclosed in the directors’ report that accompanies 
these financial statements.

(b) Directors’ compensation

The directors act in an honorary capacity and receive  
no compensation for their services.

(c) Transactions with director related entities

There were no transactions with directors or director 
related entities during the financial year and no amounts 
payable or receivable from directors or director related 
entities at the reporting date.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 (CONTINUED)

NOTE 19: MEMBERS’ GUARANTEE

The parent entity is incorporated under the Corporations Act 
2001 and is a company limited by guarantee. If the company 
is wound up, the Constitution states that each member is 
required to contribute to a maximum of $1 each towards 
meeting any outstandings and obligations of the company.  
At 30 June 2020 the number of members was 7. The 
combined total amount that members of the company  
are liable to contribute if the company is wound up is $7.

NOTE 20: COMPANY DETAILS

The registered office of the group is: 
Kids Under Cover 
383 Swan Street, 
RICHMOND VIC 3121

NOTE 21: EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO REPORTING DATE

Global Pandemic of Coronavirus Disease

On 11 March 2020, the existence of COVID-19 was declared a 
pandemic by the World Health Organisation. This has resulted 
in significant disruption in global and domestic markets.  

A number of events have arisen since the end of the 
reporting period such as new COVID-19 outbreaks  
in Victoria and government response such as  
reimposed lockdowns.

At the date of signing of the financial statements, there is 
still significant uncertainty on the likely duration and the 
ultimate impact COVID-19 will have on world economies. 
The directors and management continue to assess the 
impact of COVID-19 on the group.

Except for the Corona Virus (COVID-19) and subsequent 
government actions, the impacts of which on the company 
cannot be determined at this time, there has been no matter 
or circumstance, which has arisen since 30 June 2020 that 
has significantly affected or may significantly affect:

(a)  the operations, in financial years subsequent  
to 30 June 2020, of the group, or

(b)  the results of those operations, or

(c)  the state of affairs, in financial years subsequent  
to 30 June 2020, of the group.

DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION

KIDS UNDER COVER AND CONTROLLED ENTITY
ABN: 76 604 592 013

DIRECTORS' DECLARATION

The directors declare that:

1. there are reasonable grounds to believe that the registered entity is able to pay all of its debts, as and
when they become due and payable; and

2. the financial statements and notes satisfy the requirements of the Australian Charities and Not-for-
profits Commission Act 2012.

Signed in accordance with subsection 60.15(2) of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profit Commission
Regulation 2013.

Director: 

George Liacos

Director: 

Alison Tait

Dated this          30th day of             October 2020

- 30 -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE 
MEMBERS OF KIDS UNDER COVER

KIDS UNDER COVER AND CONTROLLED ENTITY
ABN: 76 604 592 013

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF KIDS UNDER COVER

Report on the Audit of the Financial Report

Opinion

We have audited the financial report of Kids Under Cover ''the organisation'' and its subsidiaries, "the
Group", which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2020, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, and the directors' declaration.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Group, is in accordance with Division 60 of the
Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012, including:

(a) giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2020 and of its financial
performance for the year then ended; and

(b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards - Reduced Disclosure Requirements and Division 60 of
the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Regulation 2013.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section
of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Australian Charities and Not-for-
profits Commission Act 2012 "ACNC Act" and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and
Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including Independence
Standards) "the Code" that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Group’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2020, but does not include the financial
report and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
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KIDS UNDER COVER AND CONTROLLED ENTITY
ABN: 76 604 592 013

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF KIDS UNDER COVER

Other Information (Continued)

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or
our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Report

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in accordance
with the financial reporting requirements of the ACNC Act and for such internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation and fair presentation of a financial report that is free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial report, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of this financial report.
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KIDS UNDER COVER AND CONTROLLED ENTITY
ABN: 76 604 592 013

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF KIDS UNDER COVER

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report (Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or

error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material

misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve

collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the

effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting

estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

 Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and,

based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or

conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we

conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report

to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our

opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s

report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going

concern.

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the

disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a

manner that achieves fair presentation.
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KIDS UNDER COVER AND CONTROLLED ENTITY
ABN: 76 604 592 013

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF KIDS UNDER COVER

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report (Continued)

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

B POWERS PITCHER PARTNERS

Partner Melbourne

Date 30 October 2020
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THANK YOU
On behalf of the young people and families we support, the team at Kids Under Cover sincerely thank  
the individuals and organisations that supported us this year. It is only with this incredible generosity  
and support that we can continue to prevent youth homelessness.

Founding Patron
• Ken Morgan OAM

Patrons
• Athol Guy AO
• Daryl Somers OAM
• Herb Elliott AC MBE
• Ian ‘Molly’ Meldrum AM
• Incolink
• Master Builders  

Association of Victoria
• The Honourable Martin 

Moynihan AO QC
• Tommy Emmanuel AM

Life Ambassadors
• Brian Chenu
• David Lee
• George Ermer
• Trevor Fasham

Ambassadors
• Sabina Read 
• Shaynna Blaze

Foundation Partner
• Harris HMC

Platinum Partners
• Brian and Virginia  

McNamee Foundation
• JB Hi-Fi’s workplace giving 

program, Helping Hands
• Next Form
• The Samuel Nissen  

Charitable Foundation
• The Shine On Foundation
• The Victorian Government

Gold Partners
• Baker Foundation
• Cassandra Gantner  

Foundation
• Eldon & Anne Foote Trust
• Eric and Elizabeth Gross 

Foundation
• Gandel Philanthropy 
• Hansen Little Foundation
• Harris HMC
• Hugh D T Williamson 

Foundation
• Joe White Bequest
• Lendlease & FutureSteps
• Millett Family Foundation
• NH Architects 
• Porter Davis

• RE Ross Trust
• Rotary Club of Balwyn
• Suitters Foundation
• The Jolimont Foundation
• The Marian & E.H. Flack Trust
• Turosi Giving
• Vernon Foundation

Silver Partners 
• Collier Charitable Fund
• Conquest Recruitment  

Group
• Darebin Council
• FGF Charitable Fund
• Golden Messenger
• Goodridge Foundation
• Grimshaw Architects
• IOOF Foundation Limited
• Jack and Ethel  

Goldin Foundation
• Kids in Philanthropy
• Kimberley Foundation
• Lord Mayor’s  

Charitable Foundation
• Matana Foundation for  

Young People
• MyCar
• Norman, Mavis & Graeme 

Waters Charitable Trust
• Pierce Armstrong  

Foundation
• RACV
• The Danks Trust
• The District Docklands
• The Jack Brockhoff  

Foundation
• The Raymond E.  

Purves Foundation
• The Russell &  

Womersley Foundation
• Vicki Standish Family 

Foundation

Bronze Partners
• Andrews Foundation
• Australian Government 

Department of Education  
and Training

• Barr Family Foundation
• Bunnings
• Corrs
• DBM Consultants
• Dimmick Charitable Trust
• Geelong Community 

Foundation
• Gravel Road Foundation

• Greg Alder
• Herrman Golan  

Children’s Foundation
• Jack and Hedy  

Brent Foundation
• JTM Foundation
• Kamener Foundation
• Kingfisher Charitable Trust
• Link 21 Foundation
• Macutex 
• Milton Corporation  

Foundation
• Open Universities Australia
• Pethard Tarax  

Charitable Trust
• Royal Melbourne  

Yacht Squadron
• Shulu Foundation
• South East Water
• Spencer Outlet Centre
• The Barbara Luree  

Parker Foundation
• The Dynamic Supplies 

Endowment
• The Flora & Frank  

Leith Charitable Trust
• The GPT Group
• The Robson Giving Circle
• The William Angliss (Vic) 

Charitable Fund
• VicHarbour
• Wood Family Foundation
• Zurich Foundation

Community Service 
Organisations
• Ablelink
• Anchor
• Anglicare
• Ballarat and District 

Aboriginal Co-operative
• Baptcare
• Barwon Child, Youth  

and Family – Geelong
• Bendigo and District 

Aboriginal Co-operative
• Bendigo Community  

Health Service
• Berry Street
• Bethany Community Support
• Beyond Housing
• Brophy Family and  

Youth Service
• Castlemaine District 

Community Health
• Centacare Catholic  

Diocese of Ballarat
• Child and Family Services
• Cobaw Community  

Health Services
• Dandenong and District 

Aboriginal Cooperative
• Department of Health  

and Human Services
• Department of Justice  

and Community Safety
• EACH
• Elizabeth Morgan House
• Extended Families
• FamilyCare
• Gippsland & East Gippsland 

Aboriginal Cooperative Ltd
• Gippsland Lakes  

Community Health
• Gunditjmara Aboriginal 

Cooperative Ltd
• Jesuit Social Services
• Key Assets
• Kildonan Uniting Care
• Launch Housing
• MacKillop Family Services
• Mallee Accommodation  

and Support Program
• Mallee District  

Aboriginal Services
• Melbourne City Mission
• Merri Outreach  

Support Service
• Mirabel Foundation
• OzChild
• Quantum Support Services
• South Eastern Centre Against 

Sexual Assault
• Sunbury Community  

Health Centre
• The Salvation Army
• Uniting Care
• Upper Murray Family Care
• Victorian Aboriginal  

Child Care Agency
• Vincent Care Victoria
• Wathaurong Aboriginal  

Co-Operative Ltd
• WAYSS
• Whitelion
• Wimmera Uniting Care
• Windermere Child and  

Family Services
• Wombat Housing and 

Support Services
• Youth Support and  

Advocacy Service
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TOGETHER WE CAN END 
YOUTH HOMELESSNESS
DONATE TODAY 
Every donation makes a difference. Your generosity helps 
provide life-changing programs to vulnerable young 
people and their families. You’ll be joining others who have 
transformed the lives of thousands of young people. You 
can also set up regular contributions to Kids Under Cover, 
allowing you to help prevent youth homelessness now  
and in the future. Donate securely online at kuc.org.au  
or contact our fundraising team on 1800 801 633. 

LEAVE A BEQUEST 
Leaving a gift to Kids Under Cover in your Will is an incredible 
way of taking your impact to the next level. It is without a 
doubt the kindest and most important step you could take 
towards our shared vision for a community where no young 
person is homeless. If you’re considering leaving a gift to 
Kids Under Cover we would love to talk to you about the best 
way we can honour your wishes. You can get in touch with us 
at bequests@kuc.org.au or 1800 801 633.



Phone (03) 9429 7444
Freecall 1800 801 633

PO Box 5141 
Burnley VIC 3121

kuc@kuc.org.au
kuc.org.au

@KidsUnderCover

kidsundercover

@KidsUnderCover

Kids Under Cover
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